C. Assignments of Error. 

1) The Trial Court erred in applying RCW 63. 14 so as to operate to negate

either the Retail Installment Sales Contract and/ or the subsequent additional collateral

security interest of the Suburban. 

2) The Trial Court erred in ruling that there were no material issues of fact

relating to Defendant/Appellant' s alleged conversion of a vehicle. 

3) The Trial Court erred in basing its decision on the pre - Hangman Ridge v. 

SAFECO decision ofSherwood v. Bellevue Dodge, 35 . Wn App 741 ( 1983) which

conflicts with subsequent decisions; ie, that a " wrongful repossession" is a per se

violation of the Consumer Protection Act and a misapplication of RCW 46.70. 101. 

4) The Trial Court erred in its computation of attorney' s fees which were not

supported by sworn testimony. 

5) The Trial Court erred in refusing to require arbitration under a contractual

arbitration clause, and upon reversal this matter should be required to go to arbitration

under that contractual clause. 

D. Statement of the Case. 

This matter involves a motor vehicle transaction relating to the purchase of a 2003

GMC Sonoma truck from Parkland Auto.Center by Lisa Saili on May 9, 2011. As part of

that transaction, Ms. Saili executed a promissory note for $500.00 and granted as

additional collateral" her and her husband' s interest in a 2002 GMC Suburban by

executing and delivering to Parkland Auto Center the title to said vehicle. CP 108 -109. 
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When Ms. Saili " paid" the promissory note, she gave Parkland Auto Center an

NSF check. Parkland Auto Center demanded that she make that check good and advised

her that should she fail to do so, they would repossess the 2003 .GMC Sonoma and retain

the 2002 GMC Suburban. Ms. Saili did not make good on the NSF check and Parkland

Auto Center repossessed the 2003 GMC Sonoma and took possession of the 2002 GMC

Suburban. CP 108 -110

The Sailis then brought an action in Pierce County Superior Court on June 10, 

2011 alleging a violation of RCW 63. 14 ( Retail Installment Sales Contract Act), 

Wrongful Repossession, and Violation of RCW 46.70, 180 and WAC 308 -66 -152. 

Parkland Auto Center filed an answer denying the, allegations. CP 2 -12. The Sailis filed a

Motion for Summary Judgment scheduled to be heard on February 10, 2012. CP 256. 

Parkland Auto Center, after taking the deposition ofMrs, Saili, filed a Motion to Compel

Arbitration dated January 20, 2012. CP 35 -64. The Hon. Stephanie Arend denied that

motion on February 3, 2012, and granted in part and denied in part the Sailis' Motion for

Summary Judgment on February 10, 2012; entering her written order on March 2, 2012. 

CP 261 -262, 304 -305. Parkland Auto Center filed aMotion for Reconsideration on

February 21, 2012 and the Sailis filed a Motion for Reconsideration and for an Order

Returning the Vehicle (2002 GMC Suburban) on February 13, 2012. CP 267 -282. 

The Hon. Stephanie Arend, hearing both Motions on Reconsideration, entered an

order granting the Sailis' Motions and denying Parkland Auto Center' s Motion on March
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2, 2012 wherein she granted summary judgment on the claims brought by the Sailis and

ordered Parkland Auto Center to return the vehicle (2002 GMC Suburban) reserving only

the issue of damages for trial. parkland Auto Center returned the vehicle on or about

March 2, 2012. CP 302 -303. 

Trial was held on October 1, 2012 without a jury on the issue of damages only. 

The Hon. Stephanie Arend found actual damages in the amount of $1, 230.00 and trebled

that amount to $3, 690.00 but entered a judgment on November 2, 2012 of $4,692.00 and

then offsetting it by $613. 47 owed by the Sailis to Parkland Auto Center. The Court then

entered findings of fact, conclusions of law its judgment on November 2, 2013 together

with $280.00 in taxable costs and $38, 840.00 in attorney' s fees. CP 376 -377, 397

E. Statement of Facts

1. Undisputed Facts

The following material facts are undisputed: 

The Sailis executed a Retail Installment Sales Contract that contains the required

disclosures under the Federal Truth in Lending. Act, but which does not contain any

reference to the 2002 GMC Suburban. CP 127, 174 -175. 

The Sailis executed documents designed to transfer title of their 2002 GMC. 

Suburban to Parkland Auto Center. The Sailis executed a Power ofAttorney. CP 129, 

181. They executed a Certificate of Fact acknowledging that the 2002 GMC Suburban

was given as " additional collateral" on the loan for the 2003 GMC Sonoma. CP 129, 

182. They executed an Authorization for Payoff on the balance they owed on the 2002

GMC Suburban and understood that

7- 
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Parkland Auto Center would be paying off the amount that the Sailis' owed on that

vehicle so as to transfer title of same to Parkland Auto Center. CP 129 - 130, 183. 

Parkland Auto Center paid off the Sallie 'Underlying loan on the 2002 GMC Suburban

and obtained title to that vehicle as both the registered, and legal owner of same. CP 184, 

391. 

The Sailis understood that due to their poor credit history (two prior repossessions

and twelve accounts in collection) that it was reasonable for Parkland Auto Center to

require additional collateral as part of the terms of the contract. CP 128- 129. Mrs. Saili

also admitted that if no dispute had arisen between her and Parkland Auto Center, all the

terms and conditions, including the collateralization of the 2002 GMC Suburban, would

have been the same and what she intended to do. CP 130. 

The Sailis were to pay $500. 00 as required by the promissory note by May 18, 

2011. CP 130. Mrs. Saili gave Parkland Auto Center a $ 500. 00 check on May 18, 2011, 

but it was NSF. CP 131, 187. Mrs. Saili admitted that Parkland Auto Center attempted

to resolve the nsf check with her without repossession by having her make the check

good. CP 132. Mrs. Saili admitted that Parkland Auto Center specifically told her to

take care of the nsf check or that it would;repossess the 2003 GMC Sonoma and take

possession of the 2002 GMC Suburban. CP 132.. 

Parkland Auto Center retained the 2002 GMC Suburban ( did not liquidate it) and

has, at this time, complied with Judge Arend' s March 2, 2012 order to return the vehicle

to the Sailis. CP 325. 
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As part of the original contractual; agreement, the parties agreed to arbitrate any

dispute arising as part of the contract. CP 119, 121, 124, 127, 128, 165, 178. 

2. Disputed Facts. 

The following material facts are in dispute. 

Sailis alleged that Reliable Credit declined to accept the Retail Installment Sales

Contract thus negating that contract. Parkland Auto Center' s Lonn Ostrem testified that

in fact Reliable Credit did accept the loan through what is known as a " Book of

Business" ( where the dealership unconditionally guaranties the loan). Parkland Auto

Center reacquired the contract pursuant to that guaranty. CP 109. 

Sailis alleged that the promissory note, after the nsf payment by Mrs. Saili, was

paid" by the execution of a second promissory note where payment was not due` until

June 20, 2011; thus, Mrs. Saili was not in " default". Lonn Ostrem testified that the

second promissory note was not a substitution for the first note nor a substituted payment

for the nsf check, but instead an attempt to assist Mrs. Saili in securing her own financing

so as to buy the 2003 GMC Sonoma out of repossession and to repurchase the

collaterlaized 2002 GMC Suburban. CP 110. 

F. Argument

1. The Trial -Court erred reRCW 63. 14

The trial court' s granting of the Sailis' Motion for Summary Judgment and

Motion for Reconsideration was based on an erroneous application of RCW 63. 14. 020. 

9- 
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Sailis argued that RCW 63. 14.020 ( requirement that all terms be contained within

a single document) nullified the contract because the 2002 GMC Suburban, as additional

collateral, was not referenced in that contract notwithstanding the admission that the

Sailis intended that vehicle to be additional collateral and executed the necessary

documents to transfer the title to Parkland Auto Center, and the undisputed fact that

Parkland Auto Center paid off the underlying balance owed by the Sailis on the 2002

GMC Suburban. There are three reasons why the Trial Court erred in accepting the

Saili' s arguments. 

1) RCW 63. 14. 151 operates as a matter oflaw to exempt those Retail

Installment Sales Contracts that comply with the Federal Truth in Lending Act disclosure

requirements from RCW 63. 14. 020. It is not disputed that the Retail Installment Sales

Contract executed by the Sailis complied with those''disclosure requirements. 

2) Even if the court disregarded RCW 63. 14. 151, the consequence of a violation

of RCW 63. 14. 020 is not a nullification of the, contract but simply the denial of the right

to enforce certain collection costs ( interest, penalties, attorney' s fees). RCW 63. 14.180; 

see also Kenworthy v. Bolin, 17 Wn App 650, 655 (1977 — note, while Kenworthy court

applied RCW 63. 14. 180 to the issues ofthat case,' Kenworthy predates the amendment in

RCW 64.13. 151 which was enacted in 1981 and therefore is not precedent beyond the

application ofRCW 63. 14. 180). As such, negating the contract and its subsequent, . 

collateralization of the Suburban would exceed the application of the statute. 

The Sailis argued that Reliable Credit sent them a declination letter and this

10- 
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negated the contract because of that declination. However, Lonn Ostrem testified that

Reliable Credit in fact accepted the contract based on the " book of business" 

dealership' s unconditional guaranty) and that the declination letter was in error. This

conflict in testimony creates a material issue of fact as to whether or not the underlying

Retail Installment Sales Contract was in fact negated. This issue is further confused by

the Trial Court basing its damage decision solely on' the additional collateral security

interest and not on the Retail Installment Sales Contract; ie, the Trial Court allowed for

the repossession of the Sonoma under the Retail Installment Sales Contract, but found

that the repossession of the Suburban, as the additional collateral, to be the injury upon

which damages were based thus indicating that it was not negating the Retail Installment

Sales Contract., 

3) Using RCW 63. 14. 020 to negate the collateralization of the Suburban makes

no sense because it was " additional collateral" for 'the underlying loan which was not

negated under the statute. As such, if the underlying loan is not negated, then the Retail

Installment Sales Contract continues to be enforceable. The court would then, logically, 

have to apply the statute to the parties' agreement to provide a security interest in the

Suburban as additional collateral. Although this was not addressed by the Trial Court nor

considered, even if the court applied the statute to`the security agreement for the

Suburban, the most the statute would operate to do is negate collection costs, not the

security interest itself. 

A security interest is an expression of intent of the parties, regardless of its form, 

11- 



Mar. 27. 2013 1: 30PM Ockerman No. 2891 P. 13

to create a security interest in personal property. Freeborn v. Seattle Trust, 94 Wn 2d

336, 341 ( 1980). In the present case, the Sailis granted a security interest in the 2002

GMC Suburban by expressing same in a Certificate of Fact which was filed with the

Department of Licensing, and by granting to Parkland Auto Center Lawful title to that

vehicle. RCW 62A.9- 102( 73) defines " Security Interest" as "... means an agreement that

creates or provides for security interest ". The trial court erred in presuming that such an

agreement is subject to specific language as that found in a Retail Installment Sales

Contract. In fact, a security interest is simply an agreement that expresses the parties' 

intent to create a security interest. The Sailis admitted that they intended to give a

security interest in their 2002 GMC Suburban as " additional collateral" and executed the

necessary documents to accomplish that intent. However, even if there were conflicting

testimony of such intent, it would raise a material issue of fact that should not be decided

on summary judgment. 

2. There were material issues of fact re the issue of conversion

Initially, it should be noted that you can' t " convert" that to which you have lawful

title. When parties transfer their ownership in a motor vehicle pursuant to RCW

46. 12. 101, the party to whom the title is transferred becomes the owner of the vehicle. If

you have lawful title to a vehicle, then you can' t convert it. 

However, whether a title provides for lawful .possession or not, such is a question

of fact for a jury. Smith v. Dahlquist, 176 Wash. 84, 88 -90 (1934). In the present case, 

12- 
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Parkland Auto had a properly executed title by the Sailis which the Sailis themselves

admit they executed with the intent to transfer title for the purposes of additional

collateral for the loan on the Sonoma. As such, it is a question of fact whether or not the

parties' intent had effectively transferred the title to Parkland Auto. 

3. Sherwood v. Bellevue Dodge is inconsistent with Hangman Ridge

The Sailis argued that the 1983 case ofSherwood v. Bellevue Dodge, 35 Wn App

741 ( 1983) which found that a " wrongful repossession" constituted a per se violation of

the Consumer Protection Act should be applied. However, Sherwood conflicts with

subsequent caselaw addressing the issue of what is a " per se" violation of the Act. 

The trial court founded its ruling on a violation of the Consumer Protection Act

based on the holding in Sherwood v. .Bellevue Dodge, 35 Wn App 741 ( 1983) where the

Court held that the statement in RCW 46. 70. 101 ( Department of Licensing Director' s

Enforcement provisions) created a statutory " per se" finding of public interest for the

purposes of "wrongful repossession" under RCW 62A.9A -609. The Sherwood case

stands alone in making such a finding and predates the landmark decision of our Supreme

Court in Hangman Ridge v. SAFECO, 105 Wn 2d 778 (1986). 

Hangman Ridge v. SAFECO, supra, 791, gave as an example of a statute that

indicates a legislative pronouncement of a per se public interest that of RCW 46.70.005. 

However, said statute references Title 46, 70 and does not reference RCW 62A.9A -609. 

The Sherwood v. Bellevue Dodge, supra, case sought to create a judicial per se violation

of the repossession statutes ( RCW 62A.9A -609) by bootstrapping it to RCW 46. 70. 

13- 
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However, this flies in the face of all judicial decisions since Sherwood which have

explicitly rejected judicial formulations ofper se violations of the Consumer Protection

Act that do not contain explicit statutory language that a violation of that statute is a

violation of the Consumer Protection Act. This is clear from, the legislature' s

modification of RCW 46.70 to include RCW 46.70.310 after the Hangman decision. 

The Court in Sherwood sought to bootstrap repossession issues into RCW 46.70

by citing RCW 46.70. 101; which is the statute that governs how the Department of

Licensing may sanction or even deprive a dealership of its license for certain violations. 

Said statute does not create any individual rights and explicitly states in its opening
sentence: " The director may by order deny, suspend or revoke the license of any vehicle
dealer ...." and then goes on to outline specific issues. There is nothing in this statute that

empowers individuals to take such action. This clearly shows that the Court in Sherwood

was engaging in a judicial per se test rather than a specific legislative pronouncement of

such a violation being a violation of the Consumer Protection. Act. To render a decision

based on the Plaintiffs suggested analysis would be to ignore the subsequent caselaw

that all require an explicit statement by the legislature and the reasoning for such a

requirement. See Hangman Ridge, supra, atp..791 citing Haner v. Quincy Farms

unless there is a specific legislative declaration ofpublic interest, the public interest

requirement ... is not per se satisfied' 9,, Eastlake v. Hess, 102 Wn 2d 30, 51 ( 1984) cited

as controlling in Michael v. Mosquera -Lacy, 165 Wn 2d 595, 604 -605 ( 2009 " There must

be shown a real and substantial potential repetition as opposed to a hypothetical

14- 
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possibility ofan isolated unfair or deceptive act being repeated."), and Rouse v. 

Glascom Builders, 101 Wn 2d 127, 134 -135 ( 1984 =`a single act or transaction ' 

does not provide for sufficient potentialfor repetition.) 

Furthermore, even if the court upholds the Sherwood per se test, it still requires a

wrongful repossession ". As discussed earlier in this brief, there are material issues of

fact as to whether or not the repossession; of the Suburban was wrongful or not. 

4. The Trial Court erred in computing attorney' s fees

The Trial Court awarded attorney' s fees under its finding of a violation of the

Consumer Protection Act. However, the argued time and hourly rate upon which that

award was based was not provided under any declaration or affidavit. 

A trial court is to consider evidence upon which to support an award of attorney' s

fees that is based on affidavit, See Collins v. Clark Co. Fire District No. 5, 155 Wn App
48, 100 (2010). Failure to submit an affidavit that contains sufficient explanation for a

basis on the reasonableness of fees requires reversal of the fee award. Animal Welfare

Society v. U. W., 54 Wn App 180, 186 ( 1989). 

Additionally, should this Court reverse the Trial Court' s summary judgment

finding a violation of the Consumer Protection Act, then the fees awarded under that Act

should also be reversed. 

5.. The Trial Court erred innot requiring Arbitration

Prior to the Summary Judgment hearing and subsequent Motions for

Reconsideration, Parkland Auto Center moved the court for an order compelling

15- 
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arbitration under the contractual agreement betweenthe parties. 

The action filed by the Sailis was filed in June of 2011. Both parties entered into

written discovery and Parkland Auto Center wanted to take the deposition of Ms. Saili. 

That deposition was delayed until January 3, 2012. Iri that deposition, Ms. Saili admitted

to executing the arbitration agreement. 

The Trial Court denied Parkland Auto Center' s motion to compel arbitration on

February 3, 2012. There are 3 reasons why that denial was in err. And should this Court

reverse the Trial Court, Parkland Auto ,Center requests that the Trial Court be directed to

require this matter be arbitrated per the contractual agreement. 

1) Washington has a strong public policy in enforcing contractual arbitration

clauses. " There is a strong public policy in Washington State favoring arbitration of

disputes." Perez v. MidCentury Insurance, 85 Wn App 760, 765 ( 1997). Courts are to

enforce contractual arbitration clauses as written. Stein v. Geonerco, Inc. 105 Wn App

41, 49 -50 (2001), Electrical Workers v. P'UD 1, 40 Wn App 61, 63 ( 1985). 

RCW 7. 04A.060( 1) provides " An agreement contained in a record to submit to

arbitration any existing or subsequent controversy arising between the parties to the

agreement is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable except upon a ground that exists at law

or in equity for the revocation of contract." 

2) Parkland Auto Center did not waive, its right to arbitrate. In LWSD v. 

Mobile Modules, 28 Wn App 59 (1980), the Court ofAppeals reversed the trial court' s

finding of "waiver" of an arbitration clause and compelled arbitration. The Court of

16- 
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Appeals held that agreements to arbitrateare valid, supported by public policy, and

enforceable. LWSD supra, at p. 61. The Court also held that a " waiver" of an arbitration

clause requires a showing of a voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right

and such waiver is a power exclusive to the party relinquishing the right to demand

arbitration. LWSD supra, atp. 61. 

In LWSD the Court examined the three month delay in bringing a motion to

compel arbitration and held that such was not a `waiver, and that a delay is insufficient to

establish waiver without more. LWSD supra, atp. 64.' And the Court explicitly held that

the time elapse due to the conduct of one party was not evidence of waiver of the

arbitration clause. LWSD supra, at p. 63. 

Furthermore, RCW 7.04A.040(3) ' states in pertinent part " The parties to an

agreement to arbitrate may not waive or vary the requirements of this section .... 

Although parties may waive an agreement to arbitration under RCW

7.04A.040( 1), it is subject to subsection (3); ie, if one party asks for arbitration, then no

waiver has occurred. 

In the present case, Parkland Auto Center had to wait until after taking Ms. 

Saili' s deposition testimony so as to insure that spurious denials would not be raised as to . 

the agreement itself. As shown in Ms. Saili' s testimony in her deposition CP 127, there

was initially a claim by Ms. Saili that her signature had been forged to the Supplemental

Disclosure and Agreement CP 178 which she later recanted. Ultimately, Ms. Saili

admitted having signed and initialed both Exhibits, 19 and 29 to her deposition

17-

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