I

RESPONSE TO THE DEFENDANT'SARGUMENT THAT THE

TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING MOTION TO ARBITRATE

1] The clerk's papers considered by the trial court on hearing

the defendant's motion to compel arbitration are as follows.

a) Defendant's note and motion to stay proceedings and

compel arbitration, filed January 20, 2012, CP 35 -64.

b) Plaintiff's statement of the case authority and statutes

which preclude the defendant from compelling arbitration filed

January 20, 2012, CP 66 -82.

c) Defendant's reply in support of motion to stay

proceedings and compel arbitration, filed February 1, 2012, CP

213 -239.

d) The court's order denying defendant's motion to stay

proceedings and compel arbitration, filed February 6, 2012, CP

262 -262.

2] DISCUSSION.

Before the trial court defendant urged three bases on which

the defendant's right to arbitration rests. The first basis is that the

contractual documents that provide any dispute would be subject to

arbitration. CP 38 The second basis is that defendant did not waive

the right to arbitrate by engaging in litigation. The third basis is
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that the arbitration provisions are not substantively or procedurally

unconscionable. CP 39

Before this Court the defendant's brief appears not to

address the contractual basis for the arbitration procedure and from

the defendant's brief (pages 16 -18) it appears that defendant is

relying primarily on the strong public policy which favors

enforcement of arbitration when the contract provides that

arbitration is required by the terms of the contract.

The defendant's brief cites the Court of Appeals (Div. III)

for Perez v. Mid Century Ins., 85 Wn.App.760, 765, 934 P.2d 731

1997), to illustrate that public policy favors arbitration. In Perez

v. Mid Century Ins., the Court said at page 765:

The sole issue in this case is whether a court may intervene in the
prearbitration process to disqualify an arbitrator- nominee to a
tripartite panel where one party alleges that the nominee is partial
in that the nominee has an ongoing professional relationship with
the party that made the appointment."

Perez v. Mid Century Ins., supra, made no reference to

enforcement of arbitration in the context of a retail installment

sale contract.

The decision of the Court of Appeals (Div. I) in LWSD v.

Mobile Modules, 28 Wn. App. 59, 621 P.2d 791 (1980) cited in

defendant's brief (page 16 -17) to support defendant's argument
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for arbitration did address the issue of waiver. The court ruled that

defendant's limited discovery did not constitute a waiver of the

right to arbitrate. It should be noted that the Court of Appeals in

LWSD vs. Mobile Modules, supra, at 59, found that "Mobile

Modules answered denying the claim and counterclaiming for final

payment under the contract. In its answer, Mobile Modules

referred to the arbitration clause in the contract and prayed for a

stay of court proceedings pending arbitration ". Further, the Court

of Appeals stated that Mobile Modules moved for a stay on May

15, 1979, after formally demanding arbitration in April 1979.

There was a very short time between the submission of defendant's

answer and the answer invoked arbitration which was shortly

followed by the defendant'smotion to stay the trial pending

arbitration.

Defendant also cited McKee v. AT &T, Corp., 164 Wnd.

372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008), in which the Supreme Court addressed

the issues of substantive and procedural unconscionabilty.

Although the Court's opinion is quite complex on issues raised

concerning federal preemption, the nub of the Court's opinion on

unconscionability is contained in the following quotation at page

396:
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Whether an agreement is unconscionable is a question of law
for the courts. Nelson, 127 Wn.2d at 131. Agreements may be
either substantively or procedurally unconscionable. Zuver, 153
Wn.2d at 303. Substantive unconscionability involves those cases
where a clause or term in the contract is one -sided or overly harsh.
Id. Substantive unconscionability alone is sufficient to support a
finding of unconscionability. "

The Supreme Court found numerous provisions of the AT &T

Corporation arbitration provisions to be unconscionable including

clauses which required confidentiality, limited the time to sue and

restricted recovery of attorney fees.

The other authority cited in the defendant's brief (pg. 18) is

Alder v. Fred Lind Manor 153 Wn.2d 331, 103 P.3d 773 ( 2004),

in which an arbitration contract was invoked by the defendant

when plaintiff sued for age discrimination. In this case the

Supreme Court focused on the Federal Arbitration Act which the

Court said applies to all employment contracts with exception of

certain transportation workers. The Court reiterated the following

rules which are applicable on hearing a motion to compel or deny

arbitration, at page 342: "We engage in de novo review of a trial

court's decision to compel or deny arbitration. (Citations omitted).

The party opposing the arbitration bears the burden of

showing that the agreement is not enforceable."

Further, at page 346 -347, in Alder v. Fred Lind Manor, supra,
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the Court said "[W]e hold that substantative unconscionability alone can

support a finding of unconscionability."

The issue of waiver of arbitration by conduct is addressed at pages

16 -17 of defendant's brief. Defendant appears to rely principally on the

decision of the Court of Appeals, (Division I), in the case of Lake

Washinzton School District v. Mobile , 28 Wn.App. 59, 621 P.2d 791

1980). This case is readily distinguished from the facts in the immediate

case because the Court found that the defendant had demanded arbitration

approximately three months after the complaint was filed. Further the

Court found that defendant, in answer to the complaint, referred to

arbitration and prayed for a stay ofproceedings pending arbitration. At

page 61, the Court stated the rule that a party may waive arbitration by

failing to invoke the clause when an action is commenced and arbitration

has been ignored. (Citations omitted)

Waiver of the right to arbitrate is addressed by the Court in Adler

v. Fred Lind Manor, supra, at page 362. In this portion of the opinion the

Court said, quoting with approval from the decision of Division One of

the Court of Appeals in Steele v. Lundgren, 85 Wn.App. 845, 849, 935

P.2d 671, (1997), there are three factors to determine whether a party

waives his right to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act:

1) knowledge of an existing right to compel arbitration, (2) acts

inconsistent with that right, and (3) prejudice. "' The Supreme Court did
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not find that the defendant waived the right to arbitrate in Adler v. Fred

Lind Manor, supra. What the Court did find, at page 362, and stated, is

the controlling factor: "Fred Lind Manor raised its defense of arbitration in

its initial answer to Adler's complaint and promptly moved to compel

arbitration after serving its answer. "

The plaintiff responded to the defendant's motion to compel

arbitration. Plaintiffs response was filed January 20, 2012, CP 66 -82. The

plaintiff offered four bases to support a decision denying the motion to

compel arbitration.

The first basis is that the contract arbitration clauses that defendant

invoked were not contained in the retail installment sale contract. The first

document on which defendant relied to require arbitration was the printed

form, titled VEHICLE BUYERS ORDER. A copy of this document is

found as an attachment, Exhibit A to the declaration of the defendant's

attorney, CP 45 -49. The alternative document on which defendant relies

for arbitration is titled SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE AND

AGREEMENT, and a copy of the signed document is shown as Exhibit B

to the declaration of defendant's attorney, CP 52.

The Retail Installment Sales Act, RCW 63.14.020, (copy of the

statute is included in the appendix to the respondent'sbrief), makes it

mandatory that the retail installment contract shall be contained in a single

document which shall contain the entire agreement of the parties. The
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retail installment sale contract at issue in this lawsuit, (copy of the signed

contract is found at CP 442) is referenced in plaintiff's index to the

pleadings and documents offered in support of motion for summary

judgment, CP 17. The retail installment sale contract does not make any

reference to the Vehicle Buyers Order, nor does the Vehicle Buyers Order

make any reference to the signed retail installment sale contract. The retail

installment sale contract does not contain any provision for arbitration.

The retail installment sale contract does not contain any reference to the

Supplemental Disclosure document. To enforce the arbitration clause in

documents, separate and apart from the retail installment sale contract,

would serve to condone the violation of RCW 64.14.020 that the retail

installment sale shall be contained in a single document which shall

contain the entire agreement of the parties.

The second basis for not enforcing the arbitration clauses invoked

by defendant is that the retail installment sale contract executed by the

plaintiff and defendant (CP 442 -443) stipulates "This contract contains the

entire agreement between you and us relating to this contract." This

provision is entirely misleading and deceptive in fact if the entire

agreement is not contained in the retail installment contract signed by the

parties..

The third basis on which plaintiff urges the court not to enforce

arbitration is that the arbitration clauses in the separate documents are
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substantively unconscionable under the circumstances of this case. The

argument of plaintiff opposing arbitration (CP 66 -82) called attention (at

pages 13 -14) to the fact that in the arbitration clause under the Vehicle

Purchase Order (CP 48 -50) it is stated: "You and we retain any rights to

self -help remedies, such as repossession. " What this clause means is that

even if one of the parties elected to have a dispute arbitrated, defendant is

still permitted to exercise a self -help remedy by repossession. The clause

goes on to state: "Neither you nor we waive the right to arbitrate by using

self -help remedies or filing suit." In effect, the defendant would have his

cake and eat it too because while the plaintiff is compelled to arbitrate,

defendant is permitted to exercise self -help by repossession.

The Supreme Court stated in Alder v. Fred Lind Manor, supra, at

page 344, "Substantive unconscionability involves those cases where a

clause or a term in the contract is alleged to be one -sided or overly harsh."

The arbitration clause in the document titled Vehicle Buyer's Order is

one -sided because it permits the defendant to resort to self -help and

repossession while it restricts the plaintiff to arbitration. Substantive

unconscionability is addressed in the Retail Installment Sales Act in the

following section.
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RCW 63.14.136

RETAIL INSTALLMENT SALES TRANSACTION.

UNCONSCIONABLE - JUDICIAL ACTION

With respect to a retail installment transaction, as defined in *RCW 63.14.010 if the

court as a matter of law finds the agreement or contract, or any clause in the agreement

to have been unconscionable at the time it was made, the court may refuse to

enforce the agreement or contract, may enforce the remainder of the agreement or

contract, or may limit the application of any unconscionable clause to avoid an

unconscionable result.

In this case, the court determined not to enforce the arbitration

clause. The substantively unconscionable terms of the arbitration

clause serves as the third basis for the court to deny enforcement of

arbitration.

The fourth basis on which plaintiff argued against arbitration is

waiver. As the clerk papers reflect, the plaintiff made written

demand upon defendant to restore plaintiff's Chevrolet Suburban

prior to filing suit. Refer to CP 428, plaintiff's request for admission

48, and CP 438, defendant's response to plaintiff's request #48.

The demand letter dated June 1, 2011, was received by defendant

June 8, 2011. CP 468. There was no response.

The summons, (CP 1) and complaint (CP 2 -9) was filed June

10, 2011, and defendant answered the complaint July 28, 2011, (CP

10 -12). The answer did not make any reference to arbitration. As

set forth in the plaintiff's statement opposing arbitration, at pages 9-

10, (CP 73 -74), there was extensive discovery conducted by both
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parties before the plaintiff filed the motion for summary judgment on

December 20, 2011. Both parties submitted and received written

interrogatories and requests for production. Plaintiff included

numerous requests propounded to defendant to admit facts and the

authenticity of documents which were served to defendant

September 8, 2011, and responses received October 5, 2011. (CP

421, 440) Plaintiff's counsel made request for further production of

written documents and traveled to the office of defendant's counsel

on Dec. 2 2011 to examine documents. As plaintiff's counsel

informed the court, (CP 75), at no time during the litigation process

was the plaintiff or plaintiff's counsel informed that defendant was

requesting arbitration.

The defendant's request for arbitration was not served until

January 5, 2011 (CP 63) which was two weeks after the plaintiff

filed the motion for summary judgment, (CP 15) together with

plaintiff's pleadings to support the motion (CP 17 -34). The plaintiff

submitted a statement of case authority to oppose the arbitration

CP 66 -82). An arbitration was unduly prejudicial to the plaintiff

when the request was made by defendant because an arbitration

would delay the hearing on the plaintiff's motion for summary

judgment. The delay would continue to deny plaintiff the right to

recover possession of her car which defendant held more than six
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months when the request for arbitration was raised.

The plaintiff's statement of authority to preclude arbitration (CP

66 -82) included references to numerous decisions of the courts

which recognize and enforce the doctrine of waiver when one party

to the litigation failed to request arbitration within a reasonable time

after the commencement of a lawsuit. (CP 77). In addition to the

case decisions cited by the plaintiff's attorney, including Ives v.

Ramsden, 142 Wn.App. 369, 382, 174 P.3d 1231 (2008) by the

Court of Appeals, Div. II, the plaintiff's counsel submitted his

declaration (CP 85 -88) to explain why the defendant's late filing of

the motion to compel arbitration was prejudicial to plaintiff.

In conclusion, the Court's holding in Ives v. Ramsden, supra,

should be controlling in the immediate case. After conducting

extensive discovery by both parties, after the complaint and answer

were served without any mention of arbitration, defendant's motion

for stay and to require arbitration was denied, and the lower court's

order should be sustained.
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THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION GRANTING PLAINTIFF

SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE SUSTAINED

1] The defendant assigns error to the trial court's decision

granting summary judgment based on the defendant's assertion

that the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and

admissions on file, together with affidavits, show that there are

genuine issues of material fact. CR 56(c)

A.) The defendant's brief (at page -9 -) refers to one and only

one disputed material fact, namely, whether Reliable Credit

declined to accept the retail installment sale contract. According to

the defendant's argument, the testimony of Lonn Ostream (at CP

108 -112) shows Reliable Credit did accept the loan thru what is

known as "Book of Business" where the dealership unconditionally

guarantees the loan.

B.) What defendant may have overlooked is that affidavits, to be

considered by the court on hearing a motion for summary

judgment, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in

evidence. CR 56(e) The testimony of Lonn Ostrom (CP 109) is

not based on facts that would be admissible because the critical

point he made about the finance company's willingness to accept

the contract is hearsay. ER 801(c) It is clearly hearsay for Lonn

Ostrom to testify to what he recalled was said to him by the

manager at Reliable Credit about the company's willingness to
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accept the retail installment sale contract if Lonn Ostrom would give

an unconditional guaranty.

C.) The testimony of Lonn Ostrom is set forth in his affidavit at CP

109 as follows.

When Ms. Saili's retail installment sales contract was sent to

Reliable Credit, the manager there called me on May 11 t ", 2011
and told me that her credit history was insufficient unless I wanted
to give an unconditional guaranty. I maintain a "book of business"
with Reliable Credit where Reliable Credit agrees to purchase any
loan that I send to them if I unconditionally guaranty the
performance of that loan. I agreed to transfer the loan to my "book
of business" and unconditionally guaranty the loan. It is my
understanding that Reliable Credit sent a declination letter to Ms.
Saili by mistake on May 17, 2011, as I had already agreed to place
the loan in my "book of business" with Reliable Credit. There was
no decline of the terms and conditions of Ms. Saili's loan by
Reliable Credit, only the requirement that I unconditionally guaranty
the loan, which I did.

It will be noted in the foregoing testimony that Lonn Ostrom is

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